UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-27-2014

Greenfield v. Wurmlinger Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41178

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case stems from Covenants, Conditions, and Restriction (*hereafter*: CC&R) violations, wherein the Respondents are; a.) operating a full time commercial business on their property in the Park Wood Place subdivision (*hereafter*: *PWP*), which is known as the River Cove Bed and Breakfast; b.) Respondents planted a row of arborvitae shrubs that form a hedge, which constitutes a 'fence' and is located on the property line separating the two parties'. The hedge continues to grow beyond the CC&R height restrictions, blocking Appellants protected view of the river and is a nuisance; c.) Respondents have breached a written contract with Appellant to maintain the arborvitae hedge at a height of six (6) feet; d.) Respondents have retaliated against Appellant by falsely accusing Appellant of multiple crimes (Appellant was arrested and charged with a felony), spitefully planting additional arborvitae shrubs and trees to block Appellants view of the river, and causing extreme emotional distress to Appellant.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

On September 23, 2010, Appellant Christina J. Greenfield filed a civil action against the above-mentioned Respondents in Kootenai County District Court seeking injunctive relief and damages as listed;

- that the Court enter an Order declaring that the Respondents operation of the Bed and Breakfast in PWP is in violation of the CC&Rs;
- that the Court enter an Injunction prohibiting the Respondents from operating the Bed and Breakfast, or any similar business in the Park Wood Place subdivision;

- 3.) that the Court enter an Order Declaring that the arborvitae hedge as described herein constitutes a fence and the Respondents are to maintain the arborvitae hedge, which continues to violate the PWP CC&Rs height restrictions on fences;
- 4.) that the Court enter an Order declaring that the easement be cleared of all obstructions;
- 5.) that the Court award Appellant a judgment against the Respondents for Nuisance;
- 6.) that the Court enter an Order for Abatement requiring the Respondents to remove any and all shrubs and trees located at or near the parties common property line that were planted out of "spite", which block the Appellant's view of the river, obstruct the Appellant's free use of property, and interfere with the Appellant's comfortable enjoyment of life and property;
- 7.) that the Court enter an Injunction prohibiting the Respondents from planting any shrubs or other vegetation at or near the common boundary line between the parties' real property, which blocks the Appellant's long standing view of the Spokane River and obstructing the Appellant's free use of her property, and interferes with the Appellant's comfortable enjoyment of life and property;
- that the Court award the Appellant a judgment against the Respondents for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress;
- 9.) that the Court award the Appellant a judgment against the Respondents for Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress;
- 10. that the Court award Appellant post-judgment interest on any judgment;
- 11. that the Court award Appellant her reasonable attorney fees;
- 12. that the Court award Appellant further relief as the Court deems to be just and equitable under the circumstances.

On May 24, 2012, Judge Lansing Haynes granted Appellant all motions on summary judgment, except for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress. After numerous delays by the Respondents, a five day Jury Trial began on November 26, 2012.

On December 10, 2012, Appellant filed a J.N.O.V. Motion to overturn the jury's verdict, as a matter of law under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 50. The Court DENIED Appellant's J.N.O.V. on March 21, 2013. The district court DENIED Appellant's Motion to Reconsider on May 2, 2013. Appellant filed her timely Notice of Appeal on June 12, 2013. The Court issued a Final Amended Judgment on July 8, 2013. Appellant filed an Amended Notice of Appeal on July 24, 2013. Appellant now submits this brief in support of her appeal.

C. Statement of the Facts

- 1.) The Respondents are intentionally and / or recklessly unlawfully operating a full time, year round commercial business that is open to the public, upon their real property, which is named the "River Cove Bed and Breakfast." The business offers several overnight accommodations and a wedding facility via internet advertising, and other marketing sources. Said commercial business is "PROHIBITED" under the PWP CC&Rs.
- 2.) The Respondents have planted an arborvitae shrub hedge in a single row upon or near the property line between parties' real property, which constitutes a "FENCE." The arborvitae hedge continues to grow and violate the height restriction for fences as permitted by the PWP CC&Rs.
- 3.) Respondents have planted nine (9) additional arborvitae shrubs to existing hedge of twenty-four (24) arborvitae and several large growing trees upon their real property, after Appellant exercised her legal right to enforce the PWP CC&Rs. Said spite plantings

obstruct and infringe upon the Appellant's real property blocking her coveted view of the river, the free use of her property and the comfortable enjoyment of life and property.

- 4.) Respondents entered into an agreement with the Appellant to maintain the arborvitae hedge at the agreed upon height of six (6) feet in May 2006. Respondents breached said agreement by allowing the arborvitae fence to grow to a height in excess of six (6) feet.
- 5.) Respondents have engaged in a retaliatory course of conduct to harass the Appellant by planting spite shrubs and trees, installing surveillance cameras that face the Appellant's property, intentionally and recklessly making false allegations to local law enforcement about the Appellant, and manufacturing defamatory statements about the Appellant to news sources. One allegation resulted in the Appellant being arrested and charged with a Felony, which she was eventually acquitted of nineteen (19) months later.
- 6.) Due to the intentional and / or negligent actions of the Respondents as set forth above, the Appellant suffers from severe physical manifestations and emotional distress.

II. <u>ISSUES</u>

- a) Did the District Court err in its finding that the Respondents' operation of their business, the River Cove Bed and Breakfast and wedding event facility did not violate the neighborhood CC&Rs?
- b) Did the District Court err in its finding that the Respondents' operation of their business, the River Cove Bed and Breakfast and wedding event facility was "Not open to the public"?
- c) Did the District Court err in its finding that the Respondents' operation of their business, the River Cove Bed and Breakfast and wedding event facility, qualifies as a "Home Occupation" and not a "Business" as so defined in the neighborhood CC&Rs?

- d) Did the District Court err in its finding that the Respondents' lack of maintenance of the arborvitae hedge, which is located on or near the real property line that separates both properties, did not violate the neighborhood CC&Rs height restrictions and therefore refuse to enter an Injunction prohibiting the Respondents' from allowing the arborvitae shrubs to exceed the height restrictions as set forth in the neighborhood CC&Rs?
- e) Did the District Court err in its finding that the arborvitae shrubs that form a hedge did not constitute a "Fence"?
- f) Did the District Court err in its finding that the arborvitae shrubs that form a hedge, as mentioned above, are to be considered trees?
- g) Did the District Court err in its finding that the arborvitae hedge is solely located on the Respondents' property when a mutual ownership was evident on both surveys?
- h) Did the District Court err in its finding that Appellant should be accused and assessed damages for intentionally and willfully committed Timber Trespass to the property of Respondents wherein I.C. § 6-202 allowing for treble damages would have applied when a dual ownership of the arborvitae (shrub) hedge, which is located on or near the adjoining property line of both the Appellant and Respondents, is evident?
- i) Did the District Court err in its finding that the Appellant should be assessed "Timber" damages for property (arborvitae hedge) that she equally owns, after the Appellant trimmed said arborvitae hedge to the agreed upon height, which was previously cut four years prior to the same height by the Respondent at which time it was neither damaged or destroyed?
- j) Did the District Court err in its finding that the Appellant has intentionally, willfully or negligently damaged and / or destroyed the ten (10) arborvitae shrubs in question?

- k) Did the District Court Honorable Judge Lansing Haynes err in his finding that the Respondents' asserted legal claims for "Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress" during the trial were properly disclosed, when in fact, the District Court Honorable Judge Lansing Haynes had previously dismissed the Respondents' original claim of Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress on March 22, 2011 with Prejudice?
- 1) Did the District Court err in its finding that the Respondents' violation of the neighborhood CC&Rs by operating a business, the River Cove Bed and Breakfast and wedding event facility, and the arrest of the Appellant after trimming said arborvitae hedge, along with constant harassment, including many false allegations of crimes reported by the Respondents, did not cause extreme negligent emotional distress on the Appellant?
- m) Did the District Court err in its finding that the jury instructions and the special verdict form were properly amended and submitted within the time frame as specified under I.R.C.P. 51(a)(1)?
- n) Did the District Court err in its finding that the Respondents' Survey was properly signed and introduced into evidence?
- o) Did the District Court err in its finding that Respondents' did not purposely and or negligently plant large trees and or shrubs to intentionally block Appellant's view of the Spokane River, which infringes upon Appellant's real property, obstructs her free use of property and interferes with her comfortable enjoyment of life and property?
- p) Did the District Court err in its finding that the large trees and or shrubs that were planted intentionally to block Appellant's granted view of the Spokane River, which infringes upon Appellant's real property, obstructs her free use of property, and interferes with her

comfortable enjoyment of life and property, should be abated by the Respondents' and ordered an injunction prohibiting future obstructions of Appellant's view of the Spokane River, and not interfere with her comfortable enjoyment of life and property?

- q) Did the District Court err in denying Appellant's invocation of the Fourteenth Amendment right to Due Process, which prohibits state and local governments from depriving persons of life, liberty, or property without certain steps being taken to ensure fairness and to recognize her substantive and procedural rights?
- r) Did the District Court err in allowing excessive awards of damages and attorney fees to the Respondents'?
- s) Did the District Court err in determining whether damages were correctly assessed in accordance with the finding for and the allowable amount of awards of damages and attorney fees to the Respondents?
- t) Did the District Court err by depriving Appellant her rights by violating 42 USC § 1983 Civil action for deprivation of rights and due process?
- u) Did the District Court Judge Lansing Haynes express an "appearance of partiality" against Greenfield during the proceedings?
- v) Did the District Court Honorable Judge Lansing Haynes err by not disqualifying himself, as well as his law clerk, Schuyler A. Pennington, from the court proceedings do to their affiliation with the Knights Of Columbus, an inclusive Catholic organization of men, wherein Eric Wurmlinger is also affiliated with such organization, therefore causing prejudicial bias within the judicial outcome of the case?
- w) Did the District Court Honorable Judge Lansing Haynes err by allowing the Defendants'Unclean hands' to mislead the trial court into believing that certain Trial Exhibits were

factual, wherein said exhibits were submitted "Incomplete" or contained "Unacceptable" information?

- x) Did the District Court base its findings upon unsubstantiated and incompetent evidence from the Respondents', and did that evidence support the district courts conclusions of law wherein the Appellant was prejudiced by said evidence?
- y) Did the District Court Honorable Judge Lansing Haynes err by giving the jury improper instructions?
- z) Did the District Court Honorable Judge Lansing Haynes err by failure to Order an Abatement requiring the Respondents' to remove any and all shrubs and trees located at or near the parties common property line which obstruct the Appellant's free use of property, and interferes with the Appellant's comfortable enjoyment of life and property?
- aa) Did the District Court Honorable Judge Lansing Haynes err by failure to Enter an Injunction prohibiting the Respondents' from planting any trees, shrubs, or other vegetation which blocks the Appellant's view of the Spokane River or otherwise obstructs the Appellant's free use of property, and interferes with the Appellant's comfortable enjoyment of life and property?
- bb) Did the District Court Honorable Judge Lansing Haynes commit Fraud Upon the Court as witnessed and verified by the Appellant on December 30, 2013, after Appellant viewed her case file, wherein the Honorable Judge Lansing Haynes commented in his case file notes "The only issue that concerns me is the N.I.E.D. (Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress) claim being dismissed... We can play up the former counsel's decision and the no objection to putting it to the jury later on" wherein Judge Haynes openly admits by

acknowledging concerns and states "We can Play up..." the N.I.E.D. claim that Judge Haynes had dismissed with prejudice a year and a half prior to trial?

III. ARGUMENT

DUE TO RELATIVELY LENGTHY AMOUNT OF ISSUES IN THIS CASE, APPELLANT IS CONSOLIDATING ISSUES BY SUBJECT MATTER

A. Consolidating Issues (a)(b)(c) CC&R Violations for Respondents Business

Respondents, Eric and Rosalyn Wurmlinger entered into a contractual agreement in 1994, when they purchased their property in a Post Falls subdivision known as Park Wood Place (PWP), which is zoned as single family residential.

The PWP lots are governed by covenants, conditions and restrictions (CC&Rs) (See Appellant's Trial Exhibit #1, CC&Rs, Pg. 1, ARTICLE I "Land Use" #1 Residential Purposes, Pg. 2, ARTICLE II "Building Restrictions" #1 Architectural Control Committee, Pg. 3, Paragraph 2), which limits the use of said lots for residential purposes. The PWP CCRs contain a broader prohibition that prevents the owners from operating a business on their property; Paragraph #1 states "No lot shall be used except for residential purposes." Respondent Eric Wurmlinger testified to his knowledge of the PWP CC&R business prohibition, yet Respondents constructed their home to accommodate the bed and breakfast commercial venture (See Trial Testimony Eric Wurmlinger, Pg. 216, Lines 18-25, Pg. 217, Lines 1-5, Pg. 219, Lines 3-8, Lines 11-25, Pg. 220, Lines 1-4, Pg. 221, Lines 11-13, Pg. 223, Lines 5-25, Pg. 224, lines 1-2, Pg. 225, Lines 6-13, Pg. 226, 9-14, Pg. 232, Lines 17-19, Pg. 236, Lines 20-25, Pg. 243, Lines 5-6, Lines 12-25, Pg. 249, Lines 4-8, Pg. 252, Lines 8-11, Pg. 253, Lines 5-6, Lines 21-25, Pg. 254, Lines 14-15, Line 23, Pg. 255, Line 3, Pg. 261, Lines 7-18, Pg. 262, Lines 7-10, Pg. 280, Lines 18-25, Pg. 281, Lines 8-18, Pg. 282, Lines 1-12, Pg. 283, Lines 7-18, Line 21-22, Pg. 349, Lines

9-11, Lines 18-23). See <u>Atwood</u>; "The CC&Rs specifically <u>prohibit the use of such lots</u> for any businesses."

The PWP CC&Rs may be amended by a 75% or more vote from the PWP property owners (*See Appellant's Trial Exhibit #1, CC&Rs, <u>Pg. 6</u>, ARTICLE III "General <i>Provisions" #4 Amendments*). To date, no amendment has successfully been adopted to allow any businesses to operate in the PWP subdivision.

The Respondents promote their commercial business by advertising on their website and with on-line booking agencies, wherein the public can view and purchase overnight accommodations and wedding packages (See Appellant's Trial Exhibit #2, Coeur d'Alene Bed & Breakfast Association Internet Advertisements for the River Cove B & B Accommodations and a Wedding Venue for up to 25 people and Trial Exhibit #26, The River Cove B & B Internet Advertisement for a Wedding Venue for up to 40 people). The Respondents have advertised in highly visible newspapers of their "open to the public events" as well as local tourist venues (See Appellant's Trial Exhibit #54, The Spokesman Review Newspaper Article Advertising "Open-House" event "open to the *public*"). The River Cove Bed and Breakfast operates seven days a week, twelve months a year, patrons are allowed to park on the street, book and attend wedding events, come and go at all hours of the night and day, and utilize the outdoor hot tub facility, as well as other amenities (paddle boat and yacht) that are advertised on Respondents commercial business website (See Clerks Record: Pg. 509, List of "Booking Sites" for River Cove Bed and Breakfast and Trial testimony of Eric Wurmlinger, <u>Pg. 235</u>, Lines 4-16).

This Court has repeatedly found restrictive covenants valid and enforceable, which clearly restrict the use a party may put on his or her property. See <u>Atwood v.</u>

<u>Smith</u>, 143 Idaho 110, 138 P. 3d 310 (2006); <u>Pinehaven</u>, 138 Idaho at 829, 70 P. 3d at 667; <u>Sun Valley Ctr. For the Arts & Humanities, Inc. v. Sun Valley Co.</u>, 107 Idaho 411, 413, 690 P. 2d 346, 348 (1984); <u>Brown</u>, 129 Idaho at 192, 923 P. 2d at 437. "As a derogation of the common law right to use land for lawful purposes, restrictive covenants will not be extended by implication." <u>Id</u>. At 192, 923 P. 2d at 437; <u>Birdwood</u>, 145 Idaho at 20, 175 P. 3d at 182. "When restrictive covenants clearly express (as the Park Wood Place CC&Rs do), then the restrictions on the use of land shall be enforced." <u>Brown</u> 129 Idaho at 192, 923 P. 2d at 437; <u>Brown</u> 129

"Where the language of the CC&Rs is clear and unambiguous, statutory construction is unnecessary, and this Court need only determine the application of the words to the facts of the case at hand. See Hamilton v. Reeder Flying Serv., 135 Idaho 568, 571, 21 P.3d 890, 893 (2001). "A statute (CC&Rs) is ambiguous where the language is capable of more than one construction." Struhs v. Protection Techs. Inc., 133 Idaho 715, 718, 992 P.2d 164, 167 (1999). "Ambiguity is not established merely because differing interpretations are presented to a court; otherwise, all statutes (CC&Rs) subject to litigation would be considered ambiguous. Hamilton, 135 Idaho at 571, 21 P. 3d at 893. "The interpretation should begin with an examination of the literal words of the statute (CC&R), and this language should be given its plain, obvious, and rational meaning." Williamson v. City of McCall (In re Williamson), 135 Idaho 452, 455, 19 P. 3d 766, 769 (2001). 'Farm Bureau Mut Auto. Ins. Co. v. Violano, 123 F.2d 692 (2d Cir. 1941), "342 P.2d at 933. "Words should be taken in that sense to which the apparent object and intention of the parties limit them, and the courts will always look behind the terminology to ascertain what the parties intended in making the

contract." The determination of whether a document is ambiguous is a question of law, over which we exercise free review. *See* <u>Smith</u>; <u>Maroun v. Wyreless Sys., Inc.</u>, 141 Idaho 604, 614, 114 P.3d 974, 984 (2005) (citations omitted). In evaluating for ambiguity, this Court will examine the relevant portions of the document "to determine whether [it] is reasonably subject to conflicting interpretations." <u>Id</u>. (citations omitted).""

It is undisputed that the CC&Rs by impressing upon all lots in PWP subdivision develop a uniform set of restrictive covenants, intended to establish a scheme or plan to insure the development is a "residential area of high standards." Said PWP lots are taxed at a premium rate due to their location in relationship to the river, which has resulted in a residential area of high standards. A commercial business detracts from said "High Standards" and decreases property values.

The Respondents business attracts a large number of the public on a daily basis, through multiple internet advertising sites (*See Appellant's Trial Exhibit #26 A & B, Respondents Website Advertisements*), which creates excessive traffic, constant noise, and intrusions from unwelcome patrons who stray onto adjacent properties, block driveways, mail boxes, and causes street congestion (PWP is situated in a cul-de-sac with one entrance). Said commercial business qualifies as a "Nuisance" (*See Idaho Code §52-101 and Idaho Code §52-111*) to neighboring property owners who must endure the numerous commotions and annoyances year round.

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