Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-15-2014

Greenfield v. Wurmlinger Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41178

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

C. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Finding that the Wurmlingers' Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress Claim Was Tried by Consent of the Parties Pursuant to I.R.C.P. 15(b): Issue 6.

Greenfield does not appeal the jury's finding that her conduct inflicted emotional distress on the Wurmlingers. Rather, she contends that the claim was not "properly disclosed" and that it has been previously dismissed. These assertions were not made until after the verdict and the judge's decision had been returned. Accordingly, the issue before the Court is whether the NIED claim was tried with the consent of the parties, and whether Ms. Greenfield has preserved that issue when she failed during trial to object to the evidence, the jury instructions, or the special verdict form.⁴

The determination whether an issue has been tried with the consent of the parties pursuant to I.R.C.P. 15(b) is within the trial court's discretion, and such determination will only be reversed when that discretion has been abused. *Belstler v. Sheler*, 151 Idaho 819, 825, 264 P.3d 926 (2011).

- 36

Greenfield first raised her argument that the Wurmlingers had previously dismissed their emotional distress claims rather cryptically in her "Rebuttal to Defendants' Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Set Aside Judgment and Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict" (Reply Brief) *R., p. 341; see also Tr., Vol. III, p. 1013-1014.*

During the pre-trial conference, the court clarified the issues for trial. *Tr., Vol. I, p. 132, ll. 12-25*. The district court stated, "looks like we have some consensus on what is the existence of the defendants' claims," and gave Greenfield another opportunity to object to, clarify, or remark about the Wurmlingers' claims, but Greenfield made no objection, question, or comment regarding the court's allowing evidence of NIED. *Id. at pp. 143-144*. The Wurmlingers presented evidence during their case-in-chief as to how Greenfield's conduct had caused them emotional distress. The Wurmlingers proposed jury instructions for both NIED and intentional infliction of emotional distress which included Wurmlingers NIED claim. *Tr. Vol. I, pp. 142-143*. The district court presented a Special Verdict Form, which included questions regarding Wurmlingers' claim of NIED. Greenfield did not object or make any record to either the instructions as give, or to the Special Verdict Form. *Id.* After trial, Greenfield revealed that she indeed understood "that if the jury found that there was any type of infliction of emotional distress on the defendants after hearing the proceedings at the trial then maybe they could grant it." *Tr. Vol. III, p. 1017, ll. 13-17*.

To the extent Greenfield also appeals giving the NIED jury instruction, I.R.C.P. 51(b) states in relevant part: "No party may assign as error the giving of or failure to give an instruction unless the party objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the instruction to which that party objects and the grounds of the objection." Additionally, "The correctness of jury instructions 'is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review, and the standard of review of whether a jury instruction should or should not have been given, is whether there is evidence at trial to support the instruction." *Craig*

Johnson Constr., L.L.C. v. Floyd Town Architects, P.A., 142 Idaho 797, 800, 134 P.3d 648 (2006). Greenfield did not object to any jury instructions, thereby waiving any assignment of error that the court improperly gave the NIED jury instruction. *Tr. Vol. III, p. 967, ll. 8-13*.

In addition, both Eric Wurmlinger and Rosalynn Wurmlinger testified that the emotional distress caused by Greenfield's negligent harassing conduct resulted in physical manifestations. *Tr., Vol. II, pp. 795-796; Tr., Vol. III, pp. 935-936.* Such testimony was not relevant to any issue other than the Wurmlingers' NIED claims, yet, again, Greenfield never objected. After hearing the testimony, the jury found that Greenfield had inflicted emotional distress, and that finding is supported by substantial evidence.

The record clearly shows that Greenfield knew in advance of trial and all along that the Wurmlingers were claiming NIED, that the Wurmlingers would and did present evidence of NIED, and that the jury would decide whether Greenfield was liable for NIED. However, Greenfield never objected to the claim during the pretrial conference, never objected to the NIED testimony by Wurmlingers, never objected to the NIED jury instructions nor to the special verdict form which requested the jury's determination of the issue.

"The purpose of Rule 15(b) is to allow cases to be decided on the merits rather than upon technical pleading requirements." *Belstler*, 151 Idaho at 825. Where a party fails to object to evidence on an unpleaded issue while understanding the evidence to be aimed at the unpleaded issue, there is implied consent to try that unpleaded issue. *Id*.

While noting that it was not a proper issue for Greenfield's I.R.C.P. 50(b) motion, Judge Haynes' Order Re: Plaintiff's Motions for JNOV and Set Aside Judgment demonstrates that

Judge Haynes understood the issue as one within its discretion, acted within the bounds of that discretion, and reached the decision by an exercise of reason. *R., pp. 413-414*. The District Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the Wurmlingers' NIED claim had been tried with the consent of the parties and did not err by submitting it to the jury.

D. <u>Greenfield Never Objected to Any Jury Instructions or the Special Verdict Form, She Has Thus Failed to Preserve Those Issues for Appeal: Issue 8.</u>

Greenfield contends that the jury instructions and the special verdict form were improperly amended and submitted. Greenfield does not explicitly appeal the decision to give any specific jury instruction or any portion of the special verdict form. She appears instead to object generally that the jury instructions and special verdict form were untimely. It is not clear what she means by this.

As previously noted, "No party may assign as error the giving of or failure to give an instruction unless the party objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the instruction to which that party objects and the grounds of the objection." I.R.C.P. 51(b).

Greenfield was presented with an opportunity to object to any jury instructions to be given, and Greenfield did not object, thereby waiving any assignment of error. *Tr. Vol. III, p. 967, ll. 8-13.* Greenfield does not cite any objection to the jury instructions or the special verdict form. Thus, Greenfield failed to preserve these issues for appeal, and they need not be addressed.

E. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion by Admitting the Monaco Survey: Issue 9.

Greenfield contends that the Wurmlingers' survey should not have been admitted as it was not properly signed pursuant to I.C. § 54-1215.

Trial courts have 'broad discretion in the admission of evidence at trial, and [their] decision to admit such evidence will be reversed only when there has been a clear abuse of that discretion.' ... In the case of an incorrect ruling regarding evidence, a new trial is merited only if the error affects a substantial right of one of the parties.

Karlson v. Harris, 140 Idaho 561, 564, 97 P.3d 428 (2004) (internal citations omitted).

Idaho Code § 54-1215 is not an evidentiary rule of admissibility. Jon Monaco testified as to the methods used to conduct the survey and how the measurements, recordings, and findings were accurately transferred to and portrayed on the survey. *Defendants' Trial Exhibit TT (Depo. Tr., pp.13-17)*. As such, the survey was sufficiently authenticated, and the district court did not abuse its discretion in allowing admission of the survey.

Even if the district court did err, any error was harmless as it was mitigated by Monaco's deposition testimony and other testimony regarding the location of the arborvitae. White v. Mock, 140 Idaho 882, 891, 104 P.3d 356 (2004); for such evidence, see: Defendant's Trial Exhibit TT (Depo. Tr., pp.13-19); Tr., Vol. I, p. 289, ll. 11-24; Tr., Vol. II, p. 785, ll. 7-8; Tr., Vol. II, p. 743-744.

F. <u>Greenfield's Allegations of Constitutional Rights Violations Are Misplaced:</u> Issue 10.

Greenfield seeks to assert a violation of her constitutional rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, contending that the district court deprived her of a federal right under color of law.

Although Greenfield may believe she has such a claim, her remedy is not during the appeal of her state court action against the Wurmlingers. Such a claim was never pled against Wurmlingers and, had it been, would not have stated a claim. As private citizens, the Wurmlingers' conduct isn't attributable to the state and cannot form the basis of a § 1983 claim. "The under-color-of-state-law element of a § 1983 claim excludes from its reach merely private conduct." *Marsh v. County of San Diego*, 680 F.3d 1148 (9th Cir. 2012).

Additionally, Greenfield contends that the district court denied her Fourteenth Amendment right to Due Process. Perhaps this is the constitutional right Greenfield feels was violated, providing her a § 1983 claim. However, again, any such claim would be against the appropriate governmental entity rather than asserted against the Wurmlingers on appeal.

Greenfield does not explain how her constitutional rights have been violated other than that she disagrees with the result of her trial. She doesn't support her claims with appropriate citations to the appellate record. She has failed to designate specific assignments of error by the district court. Nor does she explain what the Supreme Court can or should do about these alleged violations on appeal. Greenfield's allegations of Constitutional rights violations have no place in this appeal.

G. <u>Appellant Has Failed to Preserve any Issue Regarding Recusal of Judge Haynes:</u> Issue 11.

Greenfield argues that Judge Haynes was biased against her and should have recused himself.

"In the absence of a motion for disqualification, this Court will not review that issue on appeal." Because recusal from a case is committed to the

sound discretion of the judge, in the absence of a motion there is no decision of the court that can be reviewed, nor was a factual record developed regarding the issue.

Flying "A" Ranch, Inc. v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs for Fremont Cty., 2014 WL 2726713, Docket No. 40987-2013, pp. 10-11 (Idaho 6-17-2014) (internal citations omitted). It is the appellant's duty "to not only clearly state its contentions to the trial judge, but to make such contentions, and the rulings thereon, of record so they may be reviewed on appeal." Van Velson Corp. v. Westwood Mall Assocs., 126 Idaho 401, 406, 884 P.2d 414, 419 (1994). "[E]ither the specific ground for the objection must be clearly stated, or the basis of the objection must be apparent from the context." Slack v. Kelleher, 140 Idaho 916, 921, 104 P.3d 958, 963 (2004).

Greenfield did not make a motion for disqualification. Greenfield first attempted to raise judicial bias in her Post Verdict Motions. See "Amended and Supplemental Affidavit of Christina J. Greenfield in Support of Motion to Reconsider [the Denial of Greenfield's JNOV and Set Aside Motions]." *See R..., pp. 506-508*. Putting aside the question of whether those bare allegations would be sufficient to preserve the disqualification/bias issue for appeal, the district court granted the Wurmlingers' Motion to Strike Greenfield's "Amended and Supplemental Affidavit" in support of her Motion to Reconsider as untimely and without justification. *R., p.* 653. Greenfield does not appeal the district court's decision to strike those supplemental pleadings.

As such, not only did Greenfield fail to make a motion to disqualify Judge Haynes, but she never even raised a timely issue with the district court. Therefore, Greenfield failed to preserve the disqualification/bias issue for appellate review, and the Court need not consider it. Furthermore, a review of the transcript and record will reveal that the proceedings had the benefit of an unbiased judge attempting to achieve justice within the applicable rules. One obvious example occurred during attorney Riseborough's cross-examination of Greenfield, wherein he was attempting to establish that Greenfield's representations regarding her prior occupations were inaccurate and incomplete. Judge Haynes, *sua sponte*, interrupted this cross-examination and warned that in the district court's opinion, Riseborough was wasting time. *Tr.*, *Vol. II*, *p. 569-571*. Further, numerous objections asserted by Ms. Greenfield were sustained by the trial court, numerous objections by Mr. Riseborough were overruled (*see log of Greenfield's sustained objections and Riseborough's overruled objections, attached hereto as Exhibit "A")* and the trial court took the opportunity on occasion to assist Ms. Greenfield with the procedural and evidentiary issues. *E.g.*, *Tr.*, *Vol. I*, *pp. 144-145*; *Tr.*, *Vol. I*, *p. 294*, *Il. 10-15*; *Tr.*, *Vol. II*, *pp. 513-514*; *Tr.*, *Vol. II*, *pp. 523-525*.

H. The District Court Did Not Commit a "Fraud Upon the Court": Issue 12.

Greenfield's argument that Judge Haynes committed a "fraud upon the court" is incomprehensible. Ms. Greenfield cites a "confidential bench memorandum" in support of her fraud claim. How Ms. Greenfield came into possession of such a confidential memorandum is unclear, but her use of it is a sad example of Ms. Greenfield's colored judgment and her "ends justify the means" approach.

In any event, this is not a proper argument as contemplated by I.R.C.P. 60(b). The confidential memorandum does not reflect tampering with the administration of justice so as to suggest a wrong against the institution set up to protect and safeguard the public. *Catledge v.*

Transport Tire Co., 107 Idaho 602, 607, 691 P.2d 1217 (1984). Moreover, the Confidential Memorandum is not part of the appellate record. Rather it is confidential and exempt from disclosure pursuant to I.C.A.R. 32(g)(21). See also Respondents' Motion to Strike. The judgment of the district court should be affirmed.

I. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion by Awarding Costs and Attorney Fees to the Wurmlingers: Issue 13.

The timber trespass statute provides for an award of fees to the prevailing party. I.C. § 6-202. The Wurmlingers received a money judgment on their timber trespass claim. *R., p. 349*.

Article III, Section 1 of the CC&Rs provides that if a lawsuit is brought to enforce the covenants, the prevailing party is entitled to an award of costs and reasonable attorney fees. *Plaintiff's Trial Ex. #1*. Greenfield's CC&R claims were dismissed. *R., p. 439*.

The Wurmlingers moved for costs and attorney fees, submitting supporting affidavits from each of their attorneys detailing the amount of time spent and fees charged for representation related to the timber trespass and CC&R issues. See R., pp. 665-667.

Determination of an award of costs, attorney's fees, and the prevailing party are matters within the discretion of the trial court. *Lettunich v. Lettunich*, 141 Idaho 425, 434-435, 111 P.3d 110 (2005). In granting the Wurmlingers' motion, the district court recognized its discretion, acted within the bounds of that discretion, and reached its conclusion through the exercise of reason. *R., pp. 668-673*. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion by awarding costs and attorney fees to the Wurmlingers.

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

The Wurmlingers request attorney fees on appeal. An award of attorney fees on appeal may be granted under I.C. § 12-121 and I.A.R. 41 to the prevailing party. *Excel Leasing Co. v. Christensen*, 115 Idaho 708, 712, 769 P.2d 585 (App. 1989). Such an award is appropriate when the Supreme Court is left with the abiding belief that the appeal has been brought or defended frivolously, unreasonably, or without foundation. *Id.* An appeal may be deemed frivolous, and attorney fees awarded, for failure to properly comply with I.A.R. 35(a)(6), requiring cogent legal argument with respect to the issues presented on appeal, with citations to the authorities and appellate record. *Woods v. Sanders*, 150 Idaho 53, 61, 244 P.3d 197 (2010). In particular, an award will be made if an appeal does no more than simply invites the appellate court to second-guess a trial court on conflicting evidence, or – on review of discretionary decisions – no cogent challenge is presented with regard to the trial judge's exercise of discretion. *Pass v. Kenny*, 118 Idaho 445, 449, 797 P.2d 153 (App. 1990).

Appellant's presentation on appeal is similar to that presented in *Kirkman v. Stoker*, 134 Idaho 541, 546, 6 P.3d 397 (2000). She argues numerous issues she failed to preserve for appeal by proper objection. *Id.* She argues with findings of fact and discretionary decisions and invites this Court to substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court. *Id.* Therefore, the Wurmlingers should be awarded reasonable attorney fees on appeal.

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